

Design Procedure for TPS54122

Greg Waterfall

ABSTRACT

This application report details the design procedure of a low-noise, 3-A power supply with the integrated switcher and low-dropout (LDO) regulator of the <u>TPS54122</u>. The designer must know a few parameters in order to start the design process and typically determines them at the system level.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Typical Application Schematic	2
3	Operating Frequency	3
4	Inductor Selection	3
5	Output Capacitor Selection of the Switcher	3
6	Input capacitor	5
7	Input Capacitor of the LDO	5
8	Output Capacitor of the LDO	5
9	Slow-Start Capacitor Selection	5
10	Bootstrap Capacitor	6
11	Output Voltage Feedback Resistor Selection	6
12	Switcher Minimum and Maximum Output Voltage	6
13	Compensation Component Selection	7
14	Noise-Reduction Capacitor	8
15	Test Results	8

List of Figures

1	Typical Application Circuit	2
2	DC-DC VOUT (Vout) and LDO VOUT (LDOVout) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A	8
3	Transient Response Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A to 2 A	8
4	Start-Up Using DC-DC Enable (EN pin) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A	9
5	Start-Up Using LDO Enable (LDOEN pin) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A	9

List of Tables

1	Design Parameters	2
---	-------------------	---



1 Introduction

The following application report provides a detailed explanation of the design procedure for a low-noise power supply.

The known parameters shown in Table 1 apply to this example.

Parameters	Value
SW output voltage (Vout)	2.16 V
LDO output voltage (LDOVout)	1.8 V
Transient response at Vout	Δ Vout = 5%
Input voltage (Vin)	5 V nominal, 3 V to 5.5 V
Output voltage ripple at Vout (Voripple)	< 30 mV _{PP}
Switching frequency (fsw)	500 kHz
Output current (lout)	3 A

Table 1. Design Parameters

2 Typical Application Schematic

The application schematic shown in Figure 1 meets the parameters listed in Table 1. This circuit is available as the TPS54122EVM-201 evaluation module. The design procedure is given in this section. For more information about Type II and Type III frequency compensation circuits, see application report <u>SLVA352A</u>, *Designing Type III Compensation for Current Mode Step-Down Converters*.



▲ Not installed

Figure 1. Typical Application Circuit



3 Operating Frequency

The first step is to decide on a switching frequency for the regulator. This step involves a trade-off between higher and lower switching frequencies. Higher switching frequencies may produce a smaller solution size, using lower-valued inductors and smaller-output capacitors compared to a power supply that switches at a lower frequency. However, the higher switching frequency causes additional switching losses that can negatively impact the converter efficiency and thermal performance. In this design, the selection of a moderate switching frequency of 500 kHz achieves both a small solution size and high-efficiency operation. Using the resistor at the RT/CLK pin (R3) sets this frequency.

R3 (k Ω) = 311890 × fsw (kHz)^(-1.0793)

(1)

Operating Frequency

Using Equation 1, the required resistance for a switching frequency of 500 kHz is 381 k Ω . This design uses a standard 1%, 392-k Ω resistor.

4 Inductor Selection

Equation 2 is a calculation of the value of the output inductor, where Vout is the output voltage of the switcher. *Kind* is a coefficient that represents the amount of inductor ripple current relative to the maximum output current. The output capacitor filters the inductor ripple current. Therefore, choosing a high-inductor-ripple current impacts the selection of the output capacitor because the output capacitor must have a ripple current rating equal to or greater than the inductor ripple current. Typically, the designer selects the inductor ripple value; however, Kind is typically in the range of 0.1 to 0.3 for the majority of applications.

$$L1 = \frac{Vinmax - Vout}{Io \times Kind} \times \frac{Vout}{Vinmax \times fsw}$$
(2)

For this design example, by using Kind = 0.3, the calculated inductor value is 2.9 μ H. The chosen standard value was 3.3 μ H for this design. For the output filter inductor, do not exceed the RMS current and saturation current ratings. Use Equation 3, Equation 4, and Equation 5 to find the inductor ripple current, RMS current, and peak inductor current.

$$Iripple = \frac{Vinmax - Vout}{L1} \times \frac{Vout}{Vinmax \times fsw}$$
(3)
$$ILrms = \sqrt{Io^{2} + \frac{1}{12}} \times \left(\frac{Vo \times (Vinmax - Vo)}{Vinmax \times L1 \times fsw}\right)^{2}$$
(4)

$$ILpeak = lout + \frac{lripple}{2}$$
(5)

For this design, the inductor ripple current is 795 mA, the RMS inductor current is 3 A, and the peak inductor current is 3.4 A.

The current flowing through the inductor is the inductor ripple current plus the output current. During power up, faults, or transient load conditions, the inductor current can increase above the calculated peak inductor current level. In transient conditions, the inductor current can increase up to the switch current limit of the device. For this reason, the most conservative approach is to specify an inductor with a saturation current rating equal to or greater than the switch current limit, rather than the peak inductor current.

5 Output Capacitor Selection of the Switcher

Consider the three following primary requirements for selecting the value of the output capacitor of the switcher:

- Minimum capacitance to meet the load transient
- Minimum capacitance to meet the output voltage ripple
- Maximum ESR to meet the output voltage ripple

Select the output capacitor based on the most stringent of these three criteria.

З



Output Capacitor Selection of the Switcher

www.ti.com

The desired response to a large change in the load current is the first criterion. The output capacitor must supply the load with current when the regulator cannot. This is the situation if desired hold-up times occur for the regulator, where the output capacitor must hold the output voltage above a certain level for a specified amount of time after the input power is removed. The regulator is also temporarily unable to supply sufficient output current if a large, fast increase occurs in the load current, such as transitioning from no load to a full load. The regulator usually requires two or more clock cycles for the change in load current and output voltage to affect the control loop and adjust the duty cycle to react to the change. Size the output capacitor to supply the extra current to the load until the control loop responds to the load change. The output capacitance must be large enough to supply the difference in current for two clock cycles, while allowing only a tolerable amount of droop in the output voltage. The minimum output capacitance for the determined by Equation 6.

$$Co > \frac{2 \times \Delta lout}{f sw \times \Delta Vout}$$

where

- Δ lout is the change in output current
- fsw is the regulator switching frequency
- Δ Vout is the allowable change in the output voltage

(6)

For this example, the transient load response is specified as a 5% change in Vout for a load step of 1 A. Using these numbers (Δ lout = 1 A and Δ Vout = 0.05 × 2.16 = 108 mV) gives a minimum capacitance of 37 μ F. This value does not take into account the ESR of the output capacitor in the output voltage change. For ceramic capacitors, the ESR is usually small enough to ignore in this calculation.

Equation 7 calculates the minimum output capacitance required to meet the output voltage ripple specification.

$$Co > \frac{1}{8 \times fsw} \times \frac{1}{\frac{Voripple}{Iripple}}$$

where

- fsw is the switching frequency
- · Voripple is the maximum allowable output voltage ripple of the switcher output
- Iripple is the inductor ripple current calculated to be 795 mA

In this case, the maximum output voltage ripple is 30 mV. Under this requirement, Equation 7 yields 6.6 μ F.

Equation 8 calculates the maximum ESR an output capacitor can have to meet the output voltage ripple specification. Equation 8 indicates the ESR must be less than 38 m Ω .

(8)

(7)

The capacitance of a ceramic capacitor depends on the dc output voltage. Refer to the capacitor data sheet to select output capacitors based on their voltage rating. For the minimum capacitance that meets the load step specification of 37 μ F, this example uses two effective 22- μ F, 6.3-V, X5R ceramic capacitors with 4 m Ω of ESR.

Capacitors generally have limits to the amount of ripple current they can handle without failing or producing excess heat. Use an output capacitor that can support the inductor ripple current. Some capacitor data sheets specify the root mean square (RMS) value of the maximum ripple current. Equation 9 can calculate the RMS ripple current the output capacitor must support. For this application, Equation 9 yields 230 mA.

$$Icorms = \frac{Vout \times (Vinmax - Vout)}{\sqrt{12} \times Vinmax \times L1 \times fsw}$$

(9)



6 Input capacitor

The TPS54122 requires a high-quality ceramic, type X5R or X7R, 4.7 μ F, input decoupling capacitor on the input voltage rail. In some applications, additional bulk capacitance may also be required for the LDO BIAS input. The voltage rating of the input capacitor must be greater than the maximum input voltage. The capacitor must also have a ripple current rating greater than the maximum input current ripple of the TPS54122. The input ripple current for this design, using Equation 10, is 1.35 A.

$$\text{Icirms} = \text{Iout} \times \sqrt{\frac{\text{Vout}}{\text{Vinmin}}} \times \frac{(\text{Vinmin} - \text{Vout})}{\text{Vinmin}}$$
(10)

The value of a ceramic capacitor varies significantly over both temperature and the amount of dc bias applied to the capacitor. The capacitance variations due to temperature can be minimized by selecting a dielectric material that is stable over temperature. The high capacitance-to-volume ratio and stability over temperature make the X5R and X7R ceramic dielectrics good selections for power-regulator capacitors. The capacitance value of a capacitor decreases as the dc bias across the capacitor increases. For this example design, a ceramic capacitor with at least a 10-V voltage rating is necessary to support the maximum input voltage. For this example, two 22-µF, 10-V capacitors connected to VIN and a 4.7-µF, 10-V capacitor at BIAS. The input capacitance value determines the input ripple voltage of the regulator. Use Equation 11 to calculate the input voltage ripple.

$$\Delta \text{Vin} = \frac{\text{Iout max} \times 0.25}{\text{Cin} \times f \text{sw}}$$

(11)

Input capacitor

Using the design example values where loutmax = 3 A, C_{IN} = 50 µF, f_{SW} = 500 kHz, Equation 11 yields an input voltage ripple of 30 mV.

7 Input Capacitor of the LDO

Although an input capacitor is unnecessary for stability, connecting a $0.1-\mu$ F to $1-\mu$ F low equivalent series resistance (ESR) capacitor across the input supply near the LDO input pin is good analog design practice. This capacitor counteracts reactive input sources and improves transient response, noise rejection, and ripple rejection. A higher-value capacitor may be necessary if large, fast, rise-time load transients are anticipated, or if the device location is several inches from the power source. If source impedance is not sufficiently low, a $0.1-\mu$ F input capacitor may be necessary to ensure stability. This design example uses two 22- μ F input capacitors.

8 Output Capacitor of the LDO

The internal LDO of the TPS54122 is stable with standard ceramic capacitors with capacitance values 4.7 μ F or larger. Higher values are recommended for better noise performance. For best noise performance, the evaluated design uses 100- μ F, 22- μ F, and 0.1- μ F ceramic capacitors with a 6.3-V rating. X5R- and X7R-type capacitors are excellent choices because they have minimal variation in value and ESR over temperature.

9 Slow-Start Capacitor Selection

The slow-start capacitor determines the minimum amount of time it takes for the output voltage to reach its nominal programmed value during power up. This feature is useful if a load requires a controlled voltage slew rate. This feature is also useful if the output capacitance is large and requires a large amount of current to charge the capacitor to the output voltage level. The large currents required to charge the capacitor can make the TPS54122 reach the current limit, or the excessive current draw from the input power supply can cause the input voltage rail to sag. Limiting the output voltage slew rate solves both of these problems. Use Equation 12 to calculate the soft-start capacitor value.

$$Css = \frac{Tss(ms) * Iss(\mu A)}{Vref(V)}$$

(12)

5

The example circuit has the soft-start time set to an arbitrary value of 3.5 ms, which requires a 10-nF capacitor. In the TPS54122, Iss is 2.2 μ A and Vref is 0.827 V.



Bootstrap Capacitor

10 Bootstrap Capacitor

Connect a 0.1-µF ceramic capacitor between the BOOT to PH pin for proper operation. Use a ceramic capacitor with X5R or better-grade dielectric. The capacitor must have 10 V or higher voltage rating.

11 Output Voltage Feedback Resistor Selection

Choose resistors R5 and R6 to set the output voltage of the switcher, and choose R1 and R2 to set the output voltage of the LDO. This example design uses 6.19 k Ω for R6 and 2.85 k Ω for R2. Use Equation 13 and Equation 14 to calculate R5 and R1.

$$R5 = \frac{Vout - Vref}{Vref} R6$$
$$R1 = \frac{LDOVout - LDOVref}{LDOVref} R2$$

where

- Vout is the output of the switcher
- LDOVout is for the LDO
- Vref is 0.827 V
- LDOVref is 0.8 V

(14)

(15)

(13)

The closest 1% resistors from the calculated results of Equation 13 and Equation 14 for R5 and R1 are 10 $k\Omega$ and 3.57 $k\Omega$, respectively.

12 Switcher Minimum and Maximum Output Voltage

The internal design of the TPS54122 sets a minimum switcher output voltage limit for any given input voltage. The output voltage can never be less than the internal voltage reference; the minimum controllable on-time may limit the output voltage. In this case, Equation 15 gives the minimum output voltage:

Voutmin = Ontimemin \times Fsmax \times (Vinmax – Ioutmin \times 2 \times RDS) – Ioutmin \times (RL + RDS)

Where:

Voutmin = minimum achievable output voltage Ontimemin = minimum controllable on-time (65 ns maximum) Fsmax = maximum switching frequency including tolerance Vunmax = maximum input voltage Ioutmin = minimum load current RDS = minimum high-side MOSFET on resistance (45 m Ω to 64 m Ω) RL = series resistance of output inductor

There is also a maximum achievable output voltage which is limited by the minimum off time. The maximum output voltage is given by Equation 16:

$$Voutmax = (1 - Offtimemax \times Fsmax) \times (Vinmin - Ioutmax \times 2 \times RDS) - Ioutmax \times (RL + RDS)$$
(16)

Where:

6

Voutmax = maximum achievable output voltage Offtimemax = maximum controllable off-time (60 ns maximum) Fsmax = maximum switching frequency including tolerance Vinmin = mimimum input voltage Ioutmax = maximum load current RDS = maximum high-side MOSFET on resistance (81 m Ω to 110 m Ω) RL = series resistance of output inductor



(18)

13 **Compensation Component Selection**

Several industry techniques can compensate dc-dc regulators. The method in this application report is easy to calculate and yields high phase margins. For most conditions, the regulator has a phase margin between 60° and 90°. This method ignores the effects of the slope compensation that is internal to the TPS54122. This method ignores the slope compensation; therefore, the actual crossover frequency is usually lower than the crossover frequency in the following calculations.

Type III compensation is used to achieve a high-bandwidth, high-phase-margin design. This design targets a crossover frequency (bandwidth) of 67 kHz. Equation 17 and Equation 18 calculate the power stage pole and zero at 2.5 kHz and 1809 kHz, respectively. For the output capacitance of the switcher (Cout), we must include the two input capacitors on the LDO; therefore, the total capacitance is 4 x 22 µF = 88 μ F, and Resr = 4 m Ω / 4 = 1 m Ω .

$$fp \mod = \frac{lout \max}{2\pi \times Vout \times Cout}$$
(17)
$$fz \mod = \frac{1}{2\pi \times \text{Resr} \times Cout}$$
(18)

Now the compensation components calculations are possible. First, calculate the value for R4, which sets the gain of the compensated network at the crossover frequency. Use Equation 19 to determine the value of R4.

$$R4 = \frac{2\pi \times fc \times Vout \times Cout}{gm_{ea} \times Vref \times gm_{ps}}$$
(19)

By using Equation 19, $R4 = 22.1 \text{ k}\Omega$.

Next, calculate the value of C8. Together with R4, C8 places a compensation zero at the dominant powerstage pole frequency $f_{\rm n}$. Use Equation 20 to determine the value of C8:

$$C8 = \frac{Vout \times Cout}{Iout \times R4}$$
(20)

Using Equation 20, the standard value for C8 is 2.7 nF.

In order to provide a zero around the crossover frequency to boost the phase at crossover, add a capacitor (C11) parallel to R5. Equation 21 gives the value for the C11 capacitor. A close standard value for C11 is 330 pF.

$$C11 = \frac{1}{2\pi \times R5 \times fc}$$
(21)

Using the feedforward capacitor, C11, creates a low, ac-impedance path from the output voltage to the VSENSE input of the integrated circuit that can couple noise at the switching frequency into the control loop. Do not use a feedforward capacitor for high-output voltage ripple designs (greater than 15 mV peakto-peak at the VSENSE input) operating at duty cycles of less than 30%. When using C11, always limit the closed-loop bandwidth to no more than one-tenth of the switching frequency.

Use an additional high-frequency pole, if necessary, to cancel the zero from the output capacitor ESR by adding a capacitor in parallel with the series combination of R4 and C8. Equation 22 calculates the pole that cancels the zero from the output capacitor ESR. Capacitor C6 is optional and not used in this design.

$$C6 = \frac{\text{Resr} \times \text{Cout}}{\text{R4}}$$
(22)



14 Noise-Reduction Capacitor

In most LDOs, the bandgap is the dominant noise source. If a noise-reduction capacitor (Cnr) is used with the TPS54122, the bandgap does not contribute significantly to noise. Instead, the output resistor divider and the error amplifier input dominate the noise. To minimize the noise in this application, use a $1-\mu$ F noise-reduction capacitor.

In addition to noise-reduction purposes, the capacitor on the NR pin slows start-up time. Changing the value of Cnr can adjust the start-up time of the LDO. In this design, the 1-µF noise-reduction capacitor sets the LDO start-up time to 1 s. For more detail on how to use this pin, see the TPS54122 data sheet.

15 Test Results



Figure 2. DC-DC VOUT (Vout) and LDO VOUT (LDOVout) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A



Figure 3. Transient Response Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A to 2 A





Figure 4. Start-Up Using DC-DC Enable (EN pin) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A



Figure 5. Start-Up Using LDO Enable (LDOEN pin) Where Vin = 5 V, Vout = 2.1 V, LDOVout = 1.8 V, Load = 1 A

IMPORTANT NOTICE

Texas Instruments Incorporated and its subsidiaries (TI) reserve the right to make corrections, enhancements, improvements and other changes to its semiconductor products and services per JESD46, latest issue, and to discontinue any product or service per JESD48, latest issue. Buyers should obtain the latest relevant information before placing orders and should verify that such information is current and complete. All semiconductor products (also referred to herein as "components") are sold subject to TI's terms and conditions of sale supplied at the time of order acknowledgment.

TI warrants performance of its components to the specifications applicable at the time of sale, in accordance with the warranty in TI's terms and conditions of sale of semiconductor products. Testing and other quality control techniques are used to the extent TI deems necessary to support this warranty. Except where mandated by applicable law, testing of all parameters of each component is not necessarily performed.

TI assumes no liability for applications assistance or the design of Buyers' products. Buyers are responsible for their products and applications using TI components. To minimize the risks associated with Buyers' products and applications, Buyers should provide adequate design and operating safeguards.

TI does not warrant or represent that any license, either express or implied, is granted under any patent right, copyright, mask work right, or other intellectual property right relating to any combination, machine, or process in which TI components or services are used. Information published by TI regarding third-party products or services does not constitute a license to use such products or services or a warranty or endorsement thereof. Use of such information may require a license from a third party under the patents or other intellectual property of the third party, or a license from TI under the patents or other intellectual property of TI.

Reproduction of significant portions of TI information in TI data books or data sheets is permissible only if reproduction is without alteration and is accompanied by all associated warranties, conditions, limitations, and notices. TI is not responsible or liable for such altered documentation. Information of third parties may be subject to additional restrictions.

Resale of TI components or services with statements different from or beyond the parameters stated by TI for that component or service voids all express and any implied warranties for the associated TI component or service and is an unfair and deceptive business practice. TI is not responsible or liable for any such statements.

Buyer acknowledges and agrees that it is solely responsible for compliance with all legal, regulatory and safety-related requirements concerning its products, and any use of TI components in its applications, notwithstanding any applications-related information or support that may be provided by TI. Buyer represents and agrees that it has all the necessary expertise to create and implement safeguards which anticipate dangerous consequences of failures, monitor failures and their consequences, lessen the likelihood of failures that might cause harm and take appropriate remedial actions. Buyer will fully indemnify TI and its representatives against any damages arising out of the use of any TI components in safety-critical applications.

In some cases, TI components may be promoted specifically to facilitate safety-related applications. With such components, TI's goal is to help enable customers to design and create their own end-product solutions that meet applicable functional safety standards and requirements. Nonetheless, such components are subject to these terms.

No TI components are authorized for use in FDA Class III (or similar life-critical medical equipment) unless authorized officers of the parties have executed a special agreement specifically governing such use.

Only those TI components which TI has specifically designated as military grade or "enhanced plastic" are designed and intended for use in military/aerospace applications or environments. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that any military or aerospace use of TI components which have *not* been so designated is solely at the Buyer's risk, and that Buyer is solely responsible for compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements in connection with such use.

TI has specifically designated certain components as meeting ISO/TS16949 requirements, mainly for automotive use. In any case of use of non-designated products, TI will not be responsible for any failure to meet ISO/TS16949.

Products		Applications		
Audio	www.ti.com/audio	Automotive and Transportation	www.ti.com/automotive	
Amplifiers	amplifier.ti.com	Communications and Telecom	www.ti.com/communications	
Data Converters	dataconverter.ti.com	Computers and Peripherals	www.ti.com/computers	
DLP® Products	www.dlp.com	Consumer Electronics	www.ti.com/consumer-apps	
DSP	dsp.ti.com	Energy and Lighting	www.ti.com/energy	
Clocks and Timers	www.ti.com/clocks	Industrial	www.ti.com/industrial	
Interface	interface.ti.com	Medical	www.ti.com/medical	
Logic	logic.ti.com	Security	www.ti.com/security	
Power Mgmt	power.ti.com	Space, Avionics and Defense	www.ti.com/space-avionics-defense	
Microcontrollers	microcontroller.ti.com	Video and Imaging	www.ti.com/video	
RFID	www.ti-rfid.com			
OMAP Applications Processors	www.ti.com/omap	TI E2E Community	e2e.ti.com	
Wireless Connectivity	www.ti.com/wirelessconnectivity			

Mailing Address: Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2013, Texas Instruments Incorporated